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Re-development of the Central area and 
Wellington Street. Right centre is Con­
federation Park, mttch of which already 
has been cleared. The large bttilding 
lower right centre represents the perma­
nent National Gallery in Cartier Sqttare 
(the design is only for the purpose of the 
model) . Upper left, at the west end of 
Wellington St·reet is a proposed National 
Auditorittm, above it the Veterans' 
Memorial group, the east building of 
which is completed and the west under 
const·rttction; and across the street, on the 
north side of Wellington above the cliff, 
is seen the new National Library build­
ing. A proposed new bridge to Hull at 
the Chattdiere Falls is seen extreme left. 

OTTAWA ' 

PLAN HILL 

Major's Hill Park, Confederation Park and Approaches 



Queensway is the east-west limited access roadway shown left to right centre. 

434 

The old Bank Street Yards of the CNR 
on the cross-town tracks are shown 
left to right foregrottnd . At the bend 
of the Rideau Canal is a large new 
apartment bttilding; the National 
Mttsettm and National Gallery bttild­
ing is shown left centre, with Parlia­
ment Hill in the background. The 
railway right of way is being convert­
ed to a limited access roadway, the 
Qtteensway. (see below) 
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The extensive bttilding site in the west end 
known as Tunney's Pasture is the location for 
many government bttildings. Projected a·re an 
administration building and indttStriallabo·rato­
ry for the Department of National Health and 
Wet fare. 

November 1955 

The Httll-Ottawa waterfront today, 
showing industrial development tn 

the Chattdiere Falls a·rea. 

Proposed resto-ration of the Hull-Ottawa 
waterf-ront and the Chattdie-re Falls a-rea. 
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The Ottawa River waterfront today, 
showing railway and industrial deve­
lopment at the Chattdiere Falls and 
Nepean Bay west of Parliament H ill. 

Scale models shows the proposed long 
range re-development of the Chatt­
diere Falls and Nepean Bay areas, west 
of Parliament Hill. The traffic circle 
lower right is on the approximate site 
of the rotmd hottJe in the matching 
air photo above. 

The eastern section of Hull with the 
Capital across the Ottawa River to the 
south. The new Government Printing 
Bttrea1/. is seen left centre. The boule­
vard mnning from the bottom of the 
picture to the bridge will be con­
structed on what is now the CPR 
right of way. 

Journal R A I C 



Gatineau Park: The valley of the three lakes. Har­
rington Lake, with Lac Phillipe in the background 
to the west. 

-

November 1955 

Gatineatt Park: Lac Phillipe, showing the beaches, 
picnic and camping grounds developed by the FDC 
on the sottth shore of the lake. 

Gatineau Park : Plan /or development of the 75,000 
acre park by the FDC as proposed by ]acqttes Greber. 
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The Progress of the National Capital Plan 

A REVIEW OF THE FIHST DECADE of the ational Capital Plan 
shows notable progress in all phases of planning and construc­
tion. Most apparent, of course, is the physical development 
which has so greatly altered the appearance of nearly every 
section of the Capital. While the urban area has shared in the 
general residential, commercial and , to a limited extent, in­
dustrial expansion of the postwar years, the federal building 
program, because of its scale and nature, has caused the most 
noticeable changes in the local scene. 

Less apparent, but equally important, has been the progress 
in detailed planning of long-range projects in the Master Plan. 
The preliminary stages of some of these long-range projects, 
such as the railway relocations, have been completed. Practi­
cally all the land required for the successful implementation 
of the park and parkway proposals, the railway and industrial 
relocations and for futme government building sites has been 
acquired. Working relationships between the Federal Dish·ict 
Commission, the responsible federal planning agency; the prov­
inces of Ontario and Quebec, and Ottawa, Hull and the twenty­
eight other municipalities within the 900-square mile ational 
Capital Dish·ict ru·e well established . A comprehensive inform­
ation program begun in the early years has resulted in the 
understanding and sympathetic support of residents of the 
area and of the people of Canada as a whole. 

While the fate of earlier plans for the development of the 
Capital might have given rise to quite justifiable doubts about 
the new Master Plan when it was first presented, the achieve-
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The Master Plan 
overprinted - 1950 

Walter Bowker 

ments of the first ten years are best evidence of the firm 
foundation upon which the comprehensive, long-range under­
taking now rests. 

A synopsis of the official report of the plans prepared by 
Jacques Gnlber, the eminent French city planner who is con­
sultant-in-chief, and his Canadian associates, appeared in the 
December, 1949 issue of the ]ottrnal, but a brief recapitulation 
of some of the important proposals and planning considera­
tions may be of use. 

In brief, the Master Plan is designed to guide the develop­
ment of the Capital's urban area over the next half century. 
It is not an inflexible block-by-block detailed city plan, but 
rather a chru·t, or skeleton outline to guide development along 
desired lines. Within its framework it is capable of adjustment 
to meet new requirements and changing conditions. Railway, 
highway and ru·terial roadway proposals are h·eated in detail, 
as are proposals for governmental development of parks, park­
ways, sites for depru'tmental buildings and national institutions, 
etc. The report predicts and provides for an ultimate popula­
tion of about half a million within a five-mile radius of Pru·lia­
ment Hill, and recommends that development, on a 1·egional 
basis, follow the nuclear system of neighbourhoods and com­
munities. It encourages this last by the planned decenh·aliza­
tion of government clepru·tmental buildings thToughout the 
urban area. It would limit the population to the above figure 
(contained within an urban area of about 44,000 acres); and 
to achieve this, recommends surrounding the urban area with 
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a controlled rural fringe, or green belt. The belt, three to five 
miles wide, is designed to mark the limit of extension of 
municipal services, and therefore, dense housing development 
within it should be prohibited. Excess population would reside 
in towns and villages beyond the green belt, but within easy 
commuting distance on the highway network. Surrounding 
the urban area, and designed to protect the attractive natural 
setting and other amenities is the 900-square-mile National 
Capital District, defined by Parliament in 1944. 

The Ottawa-Hull area is treated as one physical, social and 
economic whole. Comprehensive zoning - a municipal respon­
sibility - is strongly recommended to control industrial, com­
mercial and residential development in the best interests of 
each, to preserve the amenities of the area, and to protect the 
large and growing national investment in public buildings, 
national institutions and parks and parkways. 

As there is no single authority in control of planning and 
development, rural or urban, within the District, the impor­
tance of full federal-provincial-municipal co-operation in the 
implementation of the Master Plan will be appreciated. 

Apart from private construction, developments under the 
Master Plan fall into four categories: 

l. Federal District Commission responsibilities, such as the 
relocation of the railways, development of the park and 
parkway system and some bridges. 

2. Federal building projects, for which the Department of 
Public Works, crown companies or certain departments 
of government are responsible for construction. 

3. Federal-provincial-municipal projects, mainly roads and 
bridges and municipal services, in which the Federal Dis­
trict Commission is the federal p lanning and financial 
agent. 

4. Purely municipal works in planning and development, in 
which the Commission and its planning staff are avail­
able for technical assistance. 

FDC Projects 
The most important long-range project, and the key to the 

whole Master Plan, is the removal of the existing railways 
from the central parts of the urban area to the southern and 
eastern boundaries of Ottawa and the northern and western 
sections of Hull. The rights-of-way thus made available are 
to be used for parkways and arterial roadways and the adjacent 
property, now used for industrial or railway facilities, will 
become available for more desirable (and higher tax-yield) de­
velopment. Although it is expected to take another twenty-five 
years to complete, the project is now about two years ahead 
of schedule. 

The first step was the acquisition of about 3,000 acres of 
land along the Walkley Road at Ottawa's southern boundary 
for future rail use and for new industrial areas. Next was con­
struction of a railway cut-off line. This was brought into use 
two years ago, and enabled CNR Montreal-Winnipeg manifest 
freights to bypass the urban area instead of going through it 
on the CNR crosstown tracks. Construction of what are eventu­
ally to be joint railway terminal freight yards and yard facili­
ties on the new cut-off was then begun. Upon their completion 
this summer the CNR was able to transfer its freight-marshal­
ling and maintenance operations from the crosstown tracks to 
the new Walkley yards. 

For some time negotiations have been under way with the 
CNR and CPR for the establishment of a terminal company 
to operate all rail facilities within the National Capital Dis­
trict. The new Walkley yards, at present used only by the 
CNR, are designed with this end in view. Terminal rail facili­
ties would remove the need for duplicate rail lines and yards 
within the area, and greatly expedite the railway relocation 
project. Abandonment of the CPR main line along the Capital's 
Ottawa River waterfront, the Sussex street spur along the east 
bank of the Rideau, and the connection to Hull via the Inter­
provincial Bridge could follow within the next ten years. 

In the meantime, the present Union Station facilities, which 
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have far outgrown present needs, are to be redesigned so as 
to serve until the time, now well in the future, when a new 
Union Station will be constructed as part of the Walkley Road 
rail development. 

The first of the railway relocations - the CNR move from 
the crosstown tracks, has made possible the first conversion of 
rail right-of-way to highway. The "Queensway", a limited­
access roadway, will run nineteen miles across the Capital and 
its fringes from east to west, using the abandoned CNR cross­
town tracks right-of-way for most of its length. It will link with 
Highway 17 east and west of Ottawa, and actually will be a 
diversion of that highway, bypassing the congested govern­
mental and commercial heart of the Capital. The new roadway 
is a joint project, shared in by the Federal District Commis­
sion, which is contributing most of the right-of-way; the On­
tario Department of Highways; the City of Ottawa; and, be­
cause the new road has been declared a part of the Trans­
Canada Highway, the Federal Department of Public Works. 
The project is in the design stage now, and is expected to be 
completed in about four years. 

Parks and Parkways 
While a start has been made on additions to the twenty-two 

miles of scenic driveways constructed throughout the Capital 
over the past half century, the extensive program proposed 
will not be realized for many years. Practically all the necesc 
sary properties have been obtained, however, as the result of 
a vigorous land-acquisition program begun in the early years 
before extensive suburban development greatly increased land 
values. Today it would be almost financially impossible to 
acquire these properties for park and parkway purposes. 

The approximately forty miles of new parkways will restore 
much of the beauty of the Ottawa and Rideau River water­
fronts and add about 4,000 acres of open space to the Capital's 
urban area. The projects include a six-mile Ottawa River Park­
way from Nepean Bay to Britannia; a ten-mile Rideau River 
Parkway between Rideau Falls and Mooney's Bay; and an 
Eastern-Western Parkway running in a twenty-mile arc around 
the urban area from Rockcliffe Airport to Britannia. The west­
tern section will include a link with the existing driveway 
system in the Experimental Farm. 

A start has been made on two new parkways in Hull. The 
first two miles of what will eventually be a forty-five-mile scenic 
drive in the form of a loop through Gatineau Park have been 
constructed between the Aylmer Road at Val Tetreau and 
Blvd. Gamelin (the Mountain Road); and a short distance 
eastwards the first two miles of a local parkway for Hull, the 
Lac des Fees Parkway, have been opened to traffic. This last 
is an FDC-City of Hull joint project, with the city providing 
most of the land. Eventually it will be extended around the 
east and north sections of Hull to the Gatineau Highway. A 
future parkway will be constructed from Deschenes easterly 
along the waterfront to the Champlain Bridges, with a branch 
to Fairy Lake Parkway near Blvd. Gamelin. 

On the Hull waterfront, practically all the land between the 
Interprovincial Bridge and the mouth of the Gatineau River 
has been acquired. Jacques Cartier Park, which forms part of 
the area, has been in existence for some years, and consider­
able landscape work has been done on the recently acquired 
sections. 

The newest and largest park project in the Capital itself, the 
Hog's Back development, adds about 170 acres to the 900 
acres of the present federal urban parks system. Situated in 
the beautiful area of the Hog's Back Falls and canal locks on 
the Rideau four miles south of Parliament Hill, the new park 
and its facilities are designed to meet growing tourist require­
ments and the needs of the increasing urban population. The 
facilities include a refreshment stand of novel design which 
has attracted wide attention. It is a Commission concession, 
and, financially, promises to be a most successful one. 

Separate from the urban park system, but an integral part 
of the National Capital Plan is Gatineau Park, situated in the 

439 



beautiful hill and lake country of the Laurentians north and 
west of Hull. At its suburban approaches it actually forms 
part of the green belt. Land acquisition for the park began in 
1937, and to date over 50,000 acres of the planned 75,000 
acre area has been pmchased. With its bathing beaches, hiking 
h·ails, camping and h·ailer sites, large and small scale picnic 
facilities, fishing and boating, and excellent winter skiing, the 
park has long been recognized as the summer and winter play­
ground of the Capital district. Completion of the forty-five-mile 
scenic parkway will greatly improve the park as a recreation 
area and tourist attraction. In the Kingsmere section of the 
park is located the Mackenzie King Estate, the 600-acre area 
bequeathed to the nation by the late Prime Minister and noted 
for its picturesque "ruins". This year also saw the establish­
ment of the Kingsmere Festival of the Arts, with plays, ballet 
and small orchestral performances presented in the attractive 
setting of Mom·side, one of the estate's form er summer houses. 

The Federal Building Program 
The war effort and the tremendous industrial, commercial 

and cultmal development of Canada as a nation which follow­
ed, resulted in great expansion in federal activities, affecting 
Ottawa both as a city and as a seat of government. The large 
increase in population and extensive residential development 
of the past decade has resulted in the integration into a metro­
politan area of the former mban cores of Ottawa and Hull with 
their loosely-connected suburbs. At the same time, the Capital's 
development towards a more cosmopolitan community is re­
flected in the fact that in 1939 representation from abroad con­
sisted of three High Commissioners' offices and five legations: 
today there are thirty embassies, nine legations and six High 
Commissioners' offices. 

Wartime accommodation needs were met by an extensive 
building rental program and by the erection in parks and other 
available space of temporary wooden office buildings. 

Despite the large federal building program over the past 
decade the need for new office accommodation is still far from 
being met. Urgent need, or expediency, however, has not been 
permitted to lower standards or overrule the Master Plan. 

Where possible, the policy has been to decentralize the new 
departmental buildings while at the same time complete the 
desired development of the central area and Wellington Street. 
Decentralization was recommended as a means of avoiding 
increased downtown congestion and of permitting civil ser­
vants to live in residential areas near their offices, as well as 
for obvious civil defence reasons. As a result large building 
sites have been acquired or designated in all parts of the Capi­
tal area and space is now available to meet federal building 
needs for the foreseeable future. The Federal District Com­
mission, as required by law, has approved, and in some cases 
co-ordinated, development of a dozen major site plans, and 
approved architects' plans for about one hundred and fifty 
federally-constructed buildings. Some of the projects, such as 
head office of Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation in 
the east end, have been completed. Farther east on the Mont­
real Road there has been extensive construction by the National 
Research Council. In Hull the new Government Printing 
Bureau is nearly completed. In the west end of Ottawa pro­
gress continues on the development of the Tunney's Pasture 
site. The $16 million expenditure here to date has been for 
a new Bureau of Statistics, Department of Public Works test­
ing laboratories, a records building, laboratories for the De­
partment of National Health and Welfare, and for Atomic 
Energy of Canada. More are projected. The Department of 
Mines and Technical Surveys plans extensive development ad­
jacent to the present Bureau of Mines on Booth Street, with a 
Geological Survey building and chemical laboratory to be con­
structed immediately. Other buildings for Surveys and Map­
ping branches will complete development of the site. 

A large tri-service hospital is to be located on Department 
of Veterans' Affairs property in the rapidly expanding area of 
the city south of the Rideau River. The Department of Public 
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Works and the Post Office Department, both now in the central 
area, will move to a large site on the Bowesville Road in the 
southern section of the city. Architects for both buildings are 
A. J. Hazelgrove, Ottawa, in association with Shore and Moffat, 
Toronto. Much of the Carling Avenue frontage of the Dominion 
Experimental Farm is coming into use as building sites for the 
Department of Agriculture. 

RCAF operational flying is now centered at Ottawa Airport, 
and the FDC has co-ordinated development plans here for the 
Department of National Defence, the Department of Trans­
port and the National Aeronautical Establishment. A new 
terminal building adequate for an international airport (Ottawa 
now is a trans-Atlantic alternative for Dorval) is being de­
signed. Architects are Gilleland and Strutt, Ottawa. 

West of the city at Shirley's Bay is the Defence Research 
Board establishment, already developed and capable of further 
expansion. 

Among the last of the large government departments yet to 
move is the Department of National Defence. The site recom­
mended in the Master Plan, on the Baseline Road near Pine­
crest Cemetery at the southwestern boundary of the city, has 
been acquired by the Department of Public Works, but con­
siderations of military security may compel the Department to 
locate still farther from the built-up area. 

When the Defence Department's new headquarters are 
finally constructed, the temporary wartime buildings it now 
occupies in Cartier Square at the southern edge of Confedera­
tion Park will be torn down and the site will be used for the 
National Art Gallery . Because of the urgent need for new 
accommodation for the National Gallery (now housed in the 
east wing of the National Museum, where a fire hazard exists 
and there is room to hang only a quarter of the national art 
collection) a building which can be used as a temporary gallery 
and afterwards for government offices, is to be erected as soon 
as possible on the site of the Laurentian Building on Elgin 
Street, at the western access to the Mackenzie King Bridge. 

Of other new development in the central area, Wellington 
Street is the most important. The east building of the Veterans' 
Memorial group is now completed and occupied and the west 
building is under construction. Old buildings west of the latter 
to the junction of Sparks and Wellington Streets will be de­
molished, and the block-long triangle will become a park. 
Across the street on the north side, overlooking the Ottawa 
River, is the site for the new National Library building, the 
design of which has been approved and a start is expected next 
year. No. 1 Temporary Building, one of three west of the 
Supreme Court building, is to be demolished to make room 
for the library . It will be the first of the temporary wartime 
wooden office buildings to go. 

The whole postwar building construction program repre­
sents an expenditure of approximately $73 million, not includ­
ing the National Library and National Gallery or the new Post 
Office Administration Building, the Department of Public 
Works buildings and the Department of Agriculture Adminis­
tration building. 

In addition, the Federal District Commission has expended 
approximately $11 million on railway relocations, land acquisi­
tions for railway, industrial and park and parkway use, and 
some park and parkway development. 

Joint Projects 
Since it was founded in 1899, the Federal Dish·ict Commis­

sion has worked in co-operation with the City of Ottawa. Some 
of the federal parks are actually city property leased for nomi­
nal sums and developed and maintained by the Commission. 
The development of Confederation Square in 1939 as the site 
for the 1 ational War Memorial was a federal-municipal pro­
ject, with the Department of Public Works expending $3 mil­
lion to clear the cenh·al section for the Memorial, and the city 
widening and boulevarding Elgin Street south to Laurier 
Avenue at a cost of $1 million. 

The broadening of the Commission's terms of reference and 
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the establishment of the National Capital Fund with the advent 
of the National Capital Plan led to a broader basis of financial 
co-operation. In 1950 the city annexed the urban parts of the 
adjoining townships of Nepean and Gloucester, permitting a 
unification of services throughout the urban area. The de­
centralization of federal departmental buildings led to the ex­
tension of municipal services into these areas considerably in 
advance of purely municipal need. 

Some $2Y2 millions of the National Capital Fund is being 
used to pay the interest on the debentures over the first eight 
to ten years of such "advance of need" projects. 

The amount of federal contribution to a municipal project, 
or municipal contribution to a federal project is calculated on 
the basis of which authority initiates a project, and the "degree 
of interest" of the other party. The Mackenzie King Bridge, 
first completed federal project under the National Capital Plan, 
was constructed with a view to opening up a new east-west 
route through the centre of the city and enabling heavy com­
mercial traffic to bypass Wellington Street in front of Parlia­
ment Hill. The city contributed ten percent of the cost. The 
Commission, on the other hand, is contributing 16.6 percent to 
the Dunbar Bridge, being constructed by the city to extend 
Bronson Avenue southerly over the Rideau River. The recon­
struction of Sussex Street and the new "Bytown Bridges" over 
the Rideau River were city projects, but in view of the number 
of federal buildings and institutions along its route, and the fact 
that it is a connecting link in the Driveway system, the Com­
mission contributed approximately $1,010,000 towards the 
work. 

Present improvements to the Chaudiere crossing of the 
Ottawa River are being carried out entirely by the Commis­
sion, with the technical assistance of the Department of Public 
Works. 

The Queensway, the east-west limited-access roadway be­
ing constructed on the former CNR crosstown tracks right-of­
way, has become a joint federal-provincial-municipal project, 
the Federal District Commission contribution being most of 
the right-of-way, including land acquisitions for widening and 
intersections. Because it is to be a part of the Trans-Canada 
Highway, the Department of Public Works also will share in 
the construction costs. Total estimated cost is about $15 mil­
lion, including about $5Y2 million representing the value of 
the Commission's contribution. Like all projects in which 
federal funds or property are contributed, detailed plans must 
be submitted to the Commission for approval. 

Another current municipal project is the widening of Carl­
ing Avenue, which involves a federal contribution of land 
valued at about half a million dollars. 

The importance of comprehensive and up-to-date zoning 
by-laws in the municipalities within the National Capital Dis­
trict will be understood. Ottawa has begun to re-zone; Hull 
and several other municipalities in the Quebec section of the 
District are being re-zoned. To encourage zoning, the Federal 
District Commission has offered to provide staff or funds to 
any municipality within the District for the preparation of 
zoning plans. Several Quebec municipalities ah·eady have ap­
plied, but, as yet, none in the Ontario section of the District. 

In the fourth category of purely municipal projects, Ottawa, 
like most Canadian municipalities in the postwar years, has 
had its hands full meeting the demands for very costly services, 
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schools and roads for new residential areas rapidly develop­
ing under the pressure of increasing population. The largest 
single municipal project is the extension of the sewage and 
waterworks system to service the 21,000 acres annexed in 1950. 
Although the work is being partly subsidized by the Commis­
sion, most of the estimated cost of about $23 million falls upon 
the city. 

A Planning Area Board was established under Ontario legis­
lation in 1937, with Ottawa as the designated municipality 
under the Act, and the other members the seven remaining 
municipalities within the Ontario section of the National 
Capital District. The Federal District Commission is repre­
sented on this Board as well as on its technical advisory com­
mittee. An area of sub-division control, largely conforming to 
Ottawa's municipal boundary, controls sub-division of land 
within its limits, but so far, attempts to establish the "green 
belt" around the urban area as recommended in the Master 
Plan have not been successful due to failure by the adjacent 
rural municipalities, within whose boundaries most of the belt 
lies, to do the necessary zoning. The result has been extensive 
ribbon development and some sub-dividing within the belt 
area. The problem is recognized however. Recently the Prime 
Minister announced that certain restrictions would be placed 
on Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation housing loans 
in the green belt area, and discussions with a view to finding 
a satisfactory solution to the complicated problem are now 
taking place. 

While this article has not dealt to any great extent with 
housing, the work of CMHC within the National Capital area 
is worthy of note. The Corporation's direct account house­
building program has been extensive. It includes a veterans 
development of 275 houses in Hull; another of 423 houses in 
the Merivale Road-Carling Avenue area of Ottawa; the Strath­
cona Heights Apartment development of 418 units for veterans 
at Mann avenue, Ottawa; 214 detached houses for members 
of RCAF stationed at Uplands airport; and another 500 houses 
for RCAF personnel at Rockcliffe airport. 

Federal assistance has also been provided under Section 36 
of the National Housing Act for development of serviced lots 
and house building in the Hurdman's Bridge area along the 
Rideau River. Here a federal-provincial land assembly project 
known as Riverview Park is providing 634 serviced lots with 
municipal co-operation. 

An excellent example of a large-scale combined single and 
multiple dwelling project carried out by a single private firm 
with assistance under the National Housing Act is the Manor 
Park project in Ottawa's east end. 

Like any large-scale co-operative enterprise the National 
Capital Plan has had its growing pains. Of some of them it has 
not yet been relieved, but solutions to problems and proce­
dures gradually are being worked out in the light of experience 
gained. The most urgent and basic problems having been dealt 
with, the various planning authorities are now in a position to 
give full consideration to other aspects of the work. For ex­
ample, the great need for urban re-development, particularly 
in the central area, is recognized. This is a problem common 
to all Canadian cities, and a practical solution must be found. 
It is hoped that the second decade of the Plan will see a good 
start on this much-needed aspect of the Capital's re-develop­
ment. 
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The Archttecture of Ear l y Ottawa Philip Shackleton 
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FROM THE FiRST HUMBLE SIIA TIES built close by the Chau­
diere Falls to the business blocks and public buildings of the 
sixties and seventies, Ottawa has seen examples of most of the 
architectmal adoptions and developments characteristic of 
Upper Canada's first hundred years. There are in the province 
earlier Georgian homes whose fine detail evidently had no 
duplication in the Capital. But, judging from smviving ex­
amples and from illustrations of many old buildings that have 
fallen to the wrecker, the lumber village that became Canada's 
Capital has an architectural tradition equal to that of most 
Ontario communities. 

Excellent proportion and detail have been known in 
churches, cottages, city houses, mills, hotels and shops. The 
solid b·adition of Scottish workmanship in stone is yet to be 
seen on every sb·eet which dates to the mid-nineteenth century. 
A foundation of Georgian design was built upon by the advo­
cates of Greek Revival ideas, and the economic development 
of the community was reflected in three main styles of build­
ings produced in the town's first fifty years. 

A late settlement, Ottawa proper dates from 1826 when Col. 
By's Royal Engineers arrived to begin consb·uction of the 
Rideau Canal from Ottawa to Kingston. Across the Ottawa 
River, Philomen Wright's Massachusetts migrants had built a 
village of seven hundred people while the future capital was 
the site of a couple of lonely bush farms. The judicial cenb·e 
of Perth and the military settlement of Richmond were estab­
lished communities some years before Bytown had been con­
ceived. 

But Bytown was a boomtown from the start. Prosperity 
came ready made as money poured in to build the Rideau 
Canal, the Seaway project of its day. Close on the heels of the 
Royal Engineers came gangs of workmen, civilian builders, 
settlers and speculators. Among them came Thomas MacKay, 
the community's first master builder and one of the many con­
tributors to the Scottish-Canadian architecture of early Ontario. 

MacKay was the contractor who built the flight of eight 
locks which raise the Rideau Canal from the Ottawa River to 
the cliff top where the Chateau Laurier now stands. During 
a lull in canal construction, his workmen took a week to build 
the old Scotch Church, the forerunner of today's St. Andrew's 
Presbyterian and the first really lasting church in the village. 
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Bingham Hottse, Richmond Road 

City House, Mttrray Street 
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Commissary store and warehouse-a Rideau 
Canal project btJilt by the Royal Engineers 
in 1826. This is thought to be the earliest 
mrviving bttilding in Ottawa. 

Thomson-Rochester House on the Richmond Road 
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House on Stu sex and Bruyere Streets (circa 1860) 
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His second residence, MacKay's Castle, ·has been all but 
completely hidden by wings and porches added to what has 
become the official residence of the Governor-General. Local 
ways of the time referred to its Presbyterian style, and although 
they survive today only as the lower foundation of an unpre­
possessing government building, MacKay's huge flour and 
woollen mills at the mouth of the Rideau River were in their 
clay the finest, most modern of any in Ontario. 

While the earliest buildings were of frame or square timber 
construction, the best and most lasting examples were and 
are in stone. One of the finest frame structures and certainly 
the most interesting church building of the early period was 
the Free Church of Scotland, the first Knox Church. 

Since destroyed, the Free Church was built in the forties on 
Daly avenue in the Lower Town. It was 40 by 60 feet. An 
aged photo reveals a simple gabled building with four fluted 
wooden pilasters across the fa<;acle, ·one at each corner and a 
pair flanking the central doorway. A large spacious window 
set to each side of the doorway and a generous rectangular 
light above it, together with an oval sunburst in the gable, 
complete a classical simplicity which made the Free Church a 
humble counb·y relative to St. Andrew's, Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

Bytown settlers were quick to use the square timber, so 
much of which was floated down the river. And while many 
small houses of square timber lie today hidden beneath a 
blanket of insulbric, artificial stone or tin signs of the late Cola 
period, probably the most interesting example was a large 
hotel, probably built in the forties, by a settler named McGrif­
fen. It had twenty rooms, each 9 by 12 feet, and stood on St. 
Andrew Street untill912. 

But it is in the stone work of early Ottawa that here eco­
nomic growth is best reflected. A mushroom town grew from 
the first boom, for which the Rideau Canal construction was 
responsible. The best house of this 1830 decade was essentially 
Georgian. The majority, small homes, were of one and a, half 
floors with a well proportioned centre door and fanlight, flank­
ed by an equally well proportioned window on each side. The 
usually low pitched roof was sometimes gabled, sometimes 
hipped. The low pitched front centre gable was common to 
most. 

The most handsome examples of the period, however, were 
two larger houses. The Nicholas Sparks house, which was 
sacrificed just a year ago to make way for the second DV A 
block, was a two and a half storey town house which in pro­
portion and refinement of detail left little to be desired. 

Sparks' rubble-walled house had two fanlight doors and two 
low-pitched centre gables, one each at front and rear. With 
flanking stone wings added before 1845, it was without doubt 
a mansion among the early homes of Bytown. 

A second example from the 1830 decade and fit to be ranked 
among the classic houses of Canada is the Thomson-Rochester 
house on the Richmond Road. Now owned by the Federal Dis­
b·ict Commission, possibly to become a museum in future, it 
has much in common with the late lamented Sparks house, 
even to a single dormer projecting from each end of the hip 
roof. Its generous proportions, fine dressed stone work and 
simple fanlight door make it a worthy provincial version of the 
gentleman's country seat. 

A feature found seldom in Ontario outside the Ottawa Val­
ley is the casement window of the Thomson-Rochester house 
and of many other houses, mills and shops. The double hung 
sash, of course, is characteristic of most early Ontario build-

November 1955 

ings. But the casement window was popular in early Quebec 
and it is very likely that Quebec workmen were responsible 
for the introduction of the casement to so many Ottawa Valley 
buildings. 

Ottawa's second boom grew out of the square timber trade 
which reached its peak in the forties. In the same period, 
Ottawa became the major town on the Rideau Canal route, 
the major shipping route between Upper and Lower Canada. 
It was the period too when grain was shipped from as far away 
as the Detroit River to MacKay's modern mill at Rideau Falls. 

New styles came with the new prosperity and for a decade 
or more Greek Revival was the major influence on Ottawa 
builders. Rubble gave way to a degree to dressed stone work. 
Buildings grew in size and the square light and side lights 
appeared about a plainer doorway. Window area increased 
and Renaissance quoins stepped up the four corners, or at least 
the front corners, of each stone building. Purely decorative 
quoins, in fact, appear as applied wooden plaques to some 
frame houses in the Lower Town. 

Among interesting buildings of the period is the City House 
on MuiTay Street, a hotel in continuous service since its estab­
lishment. Only within the last year was it closed. A dressed 
stone front no doubt gave the rubble building a fa<;acle of some 
sophistication in the 1840's. Although the balcony today is a 
ramshackle one, it may be the original balcony which over­
looked the old steamboat wharf on the Ottawa. Like the main 
entrance below, the balcony doorway is dressed with square 
top and side lights. 

An imposing home from the end of this period is the Bing­
ham House on Richmond Road which now serves as broad­
casting studios for a local radio station. Windows are large and 
those at the front ground level extend to the floor. The house 
is pleasing by itself but suffers by comparison with its near 
neighbour, the Thomson-Rochester house. Its portico sup­
ported by four heavy Ionic pillars is, of course, a much later 
addition. 

Into decline, Ottawa emerged for a third boom in the late 
fifties after the first railway linked the town to Prescott on the 
St. Lawrence River. Another factor in the boom was the choice 
of Ottawa as capital of the United Canadas and the consequent 
influx of civil servants. 

The buildings of the period grew to three and a half storeys. 
Doorways were still simpler. Some fancies in mildly arched 
window frames were attempted, but the general effect was 
one of a town donning a more sober business suit. 

A typical sample of the builders' work of the time stands 
at the corner of Sussex and Bruyere streets. Window and floor 
arrangement are still symmetrical, not only in the fa<;ade but 
in the street corner gable encl . 

But the old styles were on the decline. The revival schools 
were more and more influential, bringing weird and wonderful 
fancies to humble homes and public buildings alike. For an­
other decade the older conservative Scottish builders continued 
to erect a few simple, unsophisticated buildings of stone. But 
their age was clone and their honest tradition, while it remained 
solid, grew a little stolid. 

The writer gmtefully acknowledges the assistance of Mr A. ]. 
H. Richardson, Superintendent of Histot·ic Parks and Sites, 
Department of Northern Affairs and National Resources, who 
also supplied some of the photographs. 

445 



VIEWPOINT 

Flexibility is a highly overrated commodity in today's archi­
tecture. 

For the most part, I feel that flexibility is not a highly overrated 
commodity in today's architecture. Indeed it would be sheer 
folly to plan such buildings as schools, offices, hospitals, shops 
and factories as static structures to be left unaltered during 
their life span. 

We live in an age of speed and rapid technical advancement 
- therefore, it is the duty of the architect to plan to the best of 
his ability, buildings which may be readily altered to meet 
changing conditions. The success of the buildings initially and 
in the future depends, of course, on the enlightened teamwork 
of architect, consultant and client. 

G. S. Abram, Toronto 

Frankly I don't see much evidence to support the idea that 
flexibility is overrated. What are you worried about? 

For many years we have had the single-storey factory with 
fairly large bays, and the office building with its demountable 
partitions. Both of these building types are sensible solutions 
to the problem of providing flexibility for changing require­
ments. 

Perhaps you are thinking of the multiple-purpose room, such 
as the combined auditorium-gymnasium. It seems to me that 
this type of planning ·has been forced upon us by economic 
necessity, and not because flexibility, as such, is highly re­
garded. 

We should note that in residential planning there is a trend 
in the opposite direction. The currently popular idea of a 
"family room" is obviously intended to reduce the stress and 
strain of excess "flexibility" in the living room. 

Kent Barker, Toronto 

I agree entirely. The movable partition costs more to build 
than the stationary partition. The challenge thrown to the 
architect by the client is to produce an economical as well as 
a functional building. To be truly functional the plan must be 
tailor-made to the client's individual needs and this cannot be 

economically done by a broad omission of partitions which the 
architect knows in his heart must be provided later to make 
the plan work. An honest and time consuming analysis of the 
client's requirements will provide the key. 

The provision of an under the floor power distribution system 
in any single general office is only commissure and cannot be 
called "flexibility" (between rooms) within the accepted mean­
ing of the term. 

In this day of high building costs the client looks to the archi­
tect to keep the plan economical. Long spans and column 
spacings and movable partitions result in complications in the 
plumbing, heating, ventilation and electrical trades that in­
evitably make them more expensive. 

In short, anyone can make a plan more flexible . Only the 
architect can provide that delicate balance between flexibility, 
economy and functionali sm which is inherent in a good design. 

]. Philip Dumaresq, Halifax 

I really wouldn't know. I don't see much of it. There are cer­
tainly other overrated commodities that are far more harmful, 
i.e., public appeal. 

If first things come first, then let us talk of constant things, 
people, the sun, green grass, and space. Then look up, and see 
the mess about us. And file away this thing called flexibility 
until we are ready for it. Many years from now. 

Irving Grossman, Tor onto 

Flexibility is not as much of a problem for an architect practis­
ing in a small city as it is for a large city architect designing 
complex buildings whose tenants change from time to time. 

It is a fact that many clients desire a great deal of flexibility 
in their buildings but are not willing to pay the high cost of 
obtaining it. They are not ready to gamble the greater cost just 
because they feel that the nature of business carried on in a 
certain building will change in the future. If that future is in, 
say twenty years, the added cost would seem a waste, and the 
purpose of flexibility would be defeated. 

Arthur Lacottrsiere, Shawinigan Falls 

NEWS FROM THE INSTITUTE 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 
1956 Annual Assembly of the RAIC, Banff Springs Hotel, 
Banff, Alberta, June 6th to lOth. 

MANITOBA 
The possibility of low cost housing has once more reared 
its head in Winnipeg. This is a subject that is calculated to 
stir up hearty discussion at any time in this City - and has 
been a political football for the past twenty-five years and 
apparently still is. As recently as two years ago, a by-law 
was presented to the Winnipeg rate-payers asking for a 
million dollars for the construction of low rental and sub­
sidized housing units to be built under Section 36 of the 
National Housing Act. This by-law was defeated and the 
whole subject again dropped. With this refusal on the part 
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of the citizens of Winnipeg to cope with the needs for low 
cost housing, the City Council Housing Committee asked 
the Welfare Council for their help. 

The first step was a survey of one of the most crowded 
areas of the City, conducted by the Housing Committee of 
the City. Next, the School of Architecture of the University 
of Manitoba was asked to conduct a research project into 
the design and cost of living units conforming with the 
minimum standards of the City and CMHC. A grant was 
obtained from CMHC to cover this work and the Housing 
Committee Survey material was used. 

An interim report on this research has just been present­
ed and it outlines possible methods of construction and 
financing as well as the design of the dwelling units. The 
report recommended the use of two-storey row housing 
for low income families with children - and two-storey 
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apartment units containing efficiency and one bedroom 
units for families of one and two persons. 

Two sites were examined - one in the over-crowded 
downtown area and one in the suburb of Elmwood on a 
city owned tract with no existing buildings. The latter site 
was chosen and recommended as a possibility for a pilot 
project which could be financed by a limited dividend 
corporation set up under Section 16 of the National 
Housing Act - the corporation to be formed by a group of 
private citizens. 

Roy Sellars, Winnipeg 

ONTARIO 
Mr Alan Jarvis, newly appointed Director of the National 
Gallery, was asked to speak to the last meeting of the 
Ottawa Chapter of the OAA. He selected as his subject 
"Architecture as the Mother of the Arts?". He chose to 
question the position of architecture today and its relation 
to the arts. 

This question can be asked of architecture at any dis­
cussion on architectural criticism today. We have concern­
ed ourselves with functionalism and its derived aesthetic, 
and function subordinated to the aesthetic. We have be­
come more aware of the teamwork necessary between the 
architect and all branches of engineering and construction. 
We have yet to become fully aware of our relationship to 
the artist and the sculptor. Invariably their work is con­
sidered after the fact, if at all. 

A greater awareness on our part of the assistance that 
can be afforded us by the artist and sculptor to marry our 
country's artistic endeavours is necessary. It is up to us. 

The art that is put in and around our buildings could 
become a part of them if we gave more thought to working 
with our artists. 

]ames W. Strutt, Ottawa 

CONFERENCES 
Under the topic "An Exploration of Arch itectural Ideals 
and New Contemporary Approaches" a conference will 
be held under the direction of Richard J. Neutra at the Banff 
Springs School of Fine Arts, Banff, Alberta from January 12th 
through January 19th, 1956. This session will be under the 
joint sponsorship of the Alberta Association of Architects and 
the Department of Extension. 

The aims of the session will be : 
a) To stimulate individual creativity. 
b) To rekindle and to rededicate architects to their ideals in 

architectural design. 
c) To promote an international understanding and exchange 

of ideas within the profession. 
Under the leadership of Mr Neutra the conference will be 

composed of lectures, panel discussions and seminars, inform­
ally mixed with social activities, sports and sight-seeing in the 
winter beauty of the Canadian Rockies. 

All inquiries should be directed to the Department of Ex­
tension, University of Alberta, Manitoba. 

A conference on Urban Design and the Role of Planners, 
Architects and Landscape Architects in the design and 
development of cities will be held on April 9th and lOth, 1956 
at Robinson Hall and Hunt Hall, Harvard University. 

Further announcements on arrangements and other informa­
tion may be received by writing to Dean Jose Sert, Harvard 
Graduate School of Design, Robinson Hall, Cambridge 38, 
Mass. 

November 1955 

EMPLOYMENT WANTED 
Architect, ARIBA, arriving Toronto, December, 1955 offers his 
service where may be possibility of future partnership. Exten­
sive and varied British and Canadian experience, Toronto re­
ferences. Replies to the Secretary, Ontario Association of Archi­
tects, 50 Park Road, Toronto. 

CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS ISSUE 
Walter S. Bowker, Director of Information of the 
National Capital Planning Committee, Federal District 
Commission, was retained by the federal planning organi­
zation in 1947 to prepare and execute a comprehensive 
program of public information on the plans then being 
prepared for the development of the Capital. Since that 
time he has been responsible for the production of two 
films, an illustrated booklet and a large travelling exhibit 
of the plans which has been displayed in some thirteen 
Canadian cities. In recent years Mr Bowker has travelled 
extensively throughout Canada giving illustrated lectures 
on the National Capital Plan to Canadian Clubs, service 
clubs, schools and university groups, etc. Mr Bowker is a 
former Ottawa newspaperman, and prior to 1939 he spe­
cialized in town planning and related subjects. He served 
overseas with the Canadian Army, and prior to joining the 
FDC, was an executive with the National Film Board in 
Ottawa. 

R. H. Hubbard See September 1955, Journal, page 356. 

Major General Howard Kennedy, MC, CBE, MEIC, FE, 
chairman of the Federal District Commission since 1952, 
is well known as one of Canada's leading forestry consult­
ing engineers. He was chairman of a Provincial Royal 
Commission on Ontario Forests in 1946-47 and has since 
been consulting forestry engineer for the Province. In 1954 
he was chairman of a similar Royal Commission reporting 
on Newfoundland forests. He has ·served as chairman of 
the Eastern Rockies Forest Conservation Board since its 
inception in 1947. In 1950-51 he was in Palestine as Dir­
ector of the United Nations Relief and Works Agency. 
General Kennedy has a distinguished record in two world 
wars. He served with the Royal Canadian Engineers in the 
First World War, and again in 1939. In 1941, while com­
manding the Engineers of the First Canadian Division in 
England, he was recalled to Canada for duty at National 
Defence Headquarters, where from 1943 he was Quarter­
master-General. In 1953 General Kennedy served as chair­
man of the Board of Inquiry into the Reserve Army of 
Canada. 

A. S. Mathers (F) is a partner in the firm of Mathers & 
Haldenby whose work appears frequently on these pages. 
Their most recent work and perhaps the most important 
in the history of the firm is the new National Library in 
Ottawa (see August '55 issue). Mr Mathers writes on page 
430 as chairman of the Federal District Commission Ar­
chitectural Committee. 

Philip Shackleton was born in Fort Erie, Ontario in 1923. 
He received his academic training in Toronto, graduating 
from the University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in 1945. After one year with the National Film 
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Board in Ottawa, Mr Shackleton went into partnership 
with his wife to operate the Capital Press Service. He is 
well-known as a television newsreel cameraman, but also 
finds time to write articles for periodicals as well as scripts 
for television and radio. He is a member of the Archi­
tectural Conservancy of Ontario and of the Ontario His­
torical Society. 

Mr Shackleton makes his home on a farm near Spencer­
ville, Ontario where he and his wife have a collection of 
early Canadian furniture, pottery, woodenware, etc. He 
is particularly interested in Canadian crafts of yesterday 
and has been photographing early Canadian buildings for 
the past five years. 

Dr Charlotte Whitton, a native of Renfrew, Ontario, is 
a Master of Arts of Queen's University (English and His­
tory), and an honorary graduate LL.D. of the same uni­
versity, and of the University of Rochester, N.Y., and of 
Smith College; a DCL of King's College and of Acadia. 
Leaving Queen's in 1918, she served with the Social Ser­
vice Council of Canada in Toronto; three years as Secre­
tary to the Minister of Trade and Commerce for Canada, 
and founded the Canadian Welfare Council of which she 
was Director from 1926 to 1942. Social work consultant, 
writer and lecturer, she was elected a Controller of the 
City of Ottawa, December 1950 and has been Mayor of 
the Capital since August 1951. She was created CBE in 
1935. 

Charles]. Woodsworth was born in Winnipeg, Manitoba 
in 1909. He is a graduate of the University of Manitoba 
with the degree of Bachelor of Arts and later attended the 
London School of Economics where he received his PhD. 
(Econ.). Embarking on a newspaper career, he joined the 
editorial staff of the Winnipeg Tribune and later the Van­
couver Province. During the Second World War he was 
attached to the British Ministry of Information, and sta­
tioned at ew Delhi, India; Kandy, Ceylon; and Singa­
pore. From 1946 to 1948 Mr Woodsworth was associate 
editor of the Ottawa Citizen and editor-in-chief from 1948 
to 1955. It was during this period that the National Capital 
Plan came into being, and through the years he has given 
the project close study. He is currently Ottawa correspon­
dent for the editorial page of the Toronto Star and is a 
CBC radio and television commentator. Mr Woodsworth 
has b·avelled widely in Europe and Asia. He is the author 
of a book "Canada and the Orient" and contributes articles 
on international affairs to a variety of publications. 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
Rarely has the Editorial Board had such cooperation as they 
have received in the organization of this issue. The lion's share 
of the work was done by l\'lr Walter Bowker, Director of 
Information, National Capital Planning Committee, Federal 
District Commission, Ottawa. Walter Bowker considered his 
services merely in the line of duty but the Editorial Board is 
under a deep debt of gratitude to him. 

ERRATUM 
Messrs Page & Steele point out that on the Workmen's Compensa­
tion Board building which was illustrated in the October issue of 
the journal, they were associated with Thomas R. Wylie & Associ­
ates. The Journal takes the opportunity of making this correction. 
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BOOK REVIEWS 
IDEA- International Design Annual. Volume 2, 1954. Edited 
by Alvin Lustig. Published by George Wittenborn Inc., ew 
York. Price $8.50. 

Idea 54 is the second annual report to be published, to illus­
trate progress in the field of international industrial design. 
It is largely pictorial, containing 127 pages of plates and show­
ing some 400 examples of consumer goods and appliances. 
There is a brief text prepared by the three collaborators, Robert 
Gutmann, Gerd Hatje, and Karel Sanders, which explains the 
approach to industrial design in England, Germany and Hol­
land respectively. Included also is a portfolio of student work 
carried out in the School of Design at Yale. The text is in Eng­
lish, German and French, and there is an index of designers 
and manufacturers. 

The plates are divided into sections on china and pottery, 
plastics, glass, wood, textiles, metals, appliances, lamps, etc., 
and the examples shown represent the work of selected de­
signers in Austria, Britain, Canada, Denmark, Finland, Ger­
many, Holland, Italy, Japan, Switzerland and the U.S.A. 

In an age abounding with illustrated publications familiar 
to most architects, it is perhaps naive to make general com­
ments on design. However, it seemed interesting to this re­
viewer that the designs of articles of china and pottery, glass, 
wood and textiles seldom show any marked characteristic 
which indicate their country of origin. This is surely a change 
from a decade ago, when products from opposite sides of the 
Atlantic were usually quite easily distinguished from each 
other. One cannot help wondering whether it is the ease of 
travel between countries since the war, coupled with frequent 
exchange of ideas through the medium of the press, and the 
migration of designers, that has brought about this condition? 

In the field of incandescent electric fixtures, on the other 
hand, the most imaginative designs are restricted to one or two 
countries, and it would be interesting to learn whether this 
has arisen because lighting fixtures have not received the at­
tention of designers so long as other articles; and if so, whether 
one may expect greater uniformity of approach in the future. 

In some articles, which lend themselves to a sculptural ap­
proach, there remains a "hang-over" of handicrafts, which does 
not always seem to be in keeping with machine production. In 
others of a more utilitarian type (such as household appliances), 
where perhaps the practical requirements predominate, the 
designs do not seem yet to have attained the high standards 
achieved elsewhere. 
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The material throughout the book is well presented for easy 
reference, and the illustrations are good. For those who are 
interested in industrial design in a general way, or for those 
architects whose activities carry them beyond the sphere of 
designing only the shell of their clients' buildings, this volume 
should be a useful one. 

W. E. Fleury 

THE MODERN SHOP by Bryan and Norman Westwood. Pub­
lished by the Architectural Press, London, England. Price 30s. 

This is another book by the authors of "Small Retail Shops" 
which appeared in 1937. Some of the material in this earlier 
publication has been retained in the new book, but as can well 
be imagined, the years that have intervened have been so 
revolutionary in both merchandising and architecture that very 
little of the original book could be retained. For the Canadian 
this book can take an honoured place next to the American 
books: Ketchum's thorough "Shops and Stores", Fernandez's 
design-conscious "The Specialty Shop" and Parnes' business­
like "Planning Stores that Pay". All three are comparable to the 
English book but with a greater emphasis on the technical 
aspects and illustrating American examples almost exclusively. 
Two other related books which should be on the shelves of any­
one interested in this field might be mentioned: Lohse's glam­
orous "New Design in Exhibitions" and Baker and Funaro's 
statistical "Shopping Centres". These latter two books balance 
the offering of the others, which lack sufficient coverage of 
basic display design and of wider social and community plan­
ning implications. 

"The Modern Shop" manages to cover all the principal 
aspects of shop design and planning. This is done in a pithy 
manner by which, with the help of clear diagrammatic draw­
ings and well chosen illustrations, only salient information is 
presented. The book's general quality is reminiscent of the 
A1·chitectural Review and other publications of the Archi­
tectural Press. It arouses the desire to own the book, to have it 
on the shelf, to enjoy browsing through it, but not to use it 
seriously . 

The illustrations are generally well chosen. One does miss 
some American and Italian examples, though included are 
Frank Lloyd Wright's gift shop and a seed shop by Soriano. 
Also in a book which attempts to establish design values one 
regrets the absence of a historical section and one on display 
techniques. 

It is possible to find many details which can be applied to 
Canada, especially in the chapter dealing with signs, lettering 
and the shop front. The more sober English approach to archi­
tectural design is also salutary. However, many other sections 
are out of date for us and we would not take seriously, for ex­
ample, the proposal that heating by portable heaters has any 
advantage worthy of serious consideration. 

As in many books dealing with building types, this book 
lacks a study of fundamental principles. These are touched 
upon, but do not form the foundation for the book. Kennedy 
Wood's book "The House" set a high standard in this respect 
and it is to be hoped that more books on building types will 
follow a similar though not so all-embracing formula. We cer­
tainly should expect a historical survey, followed by an analysis 
of the human and social service which the building is to render. 
The physiological and psychological consequences should then 
form the core study from which all further details of planning, 
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finishes, atmosphere, heating, acoustics and so on would ema­
nate. I don't think there is a place in an architectural book for 
this type of professional irresponsibility: -"Provided the archi­
tect knows the intensity he requires, the electrical engineer can 
soon furnish him with the fi gures of lamp sizes and spacing to 
achieve this object." Surely more architectural factors are in­
volved in the choice of lighting than foot-candles! 

A greater concern for human goals might make these special­
ized books of more lasting value. This applies to a still greater 
degree when we deal with buildings which form a part of the 
competitive commercial life of our world. While "The Modern 
Shop" would be a nice addition to any architectural library, 
I am reasonably certain that it will be out of date as rapidly as 
Its predecessor. It is doubtful if the historian or the research 
student of the future would ever refer to it. One might well ask 
whether such material should not have appeared in periodicals 
rather than in the form al shape of a book. 

The authors start appropriately on an unhappy note in their 
first paragraph : - "Since it is almost a truism to say that in a 
competitive world there should be no room for the common­
place in successful shopkeeping, how is it that the general 
standard is quite so appallingly low? In other spheres of archi­
tecture - houses, flats, factories or schools - there is a fair 
sprinkling of good examples". They did not realize that a few 
pages later they succintly gave the answer : "Corbusier's princi­
ple that 'the house is a machine to live in' can be applied with 
much greater force to the shop as a machine for selling things 
in". Note this " ... for selling things in". Why not " ... for buy­
ing things in", or" ... a machine to supply human necessities"? 
Is it not here that the trouble lies? Why is it that the Swedish 
Co-operative Societies' Stores have led the world in store 
design? 

It seems to this reviewer that as long as merchandising is in 
its present state of competitive chaos, and the emphasis is 
placed on sale rather than on purchase, on profit rather than 
meeting human needs, we shall continue to have stores which 
are sub-standard architecturally . 

What the Westwoods have omitted from their book is any 
reference to the American solution to the visual squalor of the 
small individual shop. I am referring here to the placing of 
these shops in large architecturally integrated shopping centres, 
such as Detroit's remarkable "Northland". The individual shops 
are perhaps no better here than can be found elsewhere. They 
are however overwhelmed by the architectural order and 
charm which is imposed in such a way that the individual shop 
succeeds by virtue of its planned location and design con­
formity rather than by the blatancy of its competitive contrasts 
or the piquancy of its exclusiveness. We see in these centres a 
recognition of the purchaser's desire for quality and homo­
genity in surroundings which tell him visually "This Centre is 
for your use, convenience and happiness - we hope that you 
will enjoy your shopping here". While this answer may not 
produce the ideal architectural solution to the problems of 
competitive merchandising, my thesis is that it will do much 
more to this end than any isolated efforts on the part of in­
dividual shops. 

As long as we continue to have small shops, creating the 
jungles bordering our street, we must be grateful for books 
such as this one which tries bravely to do something with a 
socially complicated dilemma. 

Fred Lasserre 
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Facts about Glass by Pilkington 
Volume 5 No. 

GLASS BLOCKS 

Glass Blocks 
in relation to 

Air-conditioning 
While all light-transmitting materials transmit 
a greater percentage of solar heat than opaque 
materials, it has been found tnat the amount 
transmitted by glass blocks is much less than 
that of other fenestrations. You will note that 
each new light-controlling development in glass 
block has been to reduce solar heat gain. The 
new solar-selecting blocks provide an estimated 
reduction in solar heat transmission of approx­
imately thirty per cent at time of maximum gain 
over the light-directing type. The chart below 
shows comparative figures throughout a 95 • 
day. Use of glass block in industrial buildings 
means low maintenance, more constant temper­
atures in summer, greater comfort and lower air­
conditioning costs. 
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The high thermal insulating value of glass block 
offers designers and owners of industrial buildings 
certain important advantages over the usual rype 
of fenestration. Cost of heating equipment is less, 
fuel costs are lower and temperature throughout the 
operating area is more uniform. The diagram at 
right shows how a panel of Glass Block com­
pares to ocher standard building materials, some of 
which are several times as thick as a glass block 
panel. 
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